IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE
NOV 5 1997

CASE NO. 91,333

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

ROBERT EARL WOOD,

Petitioner,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL, BRIEF

On Review of a Final Judgment
Denying Post-Conviction Relief, and
Certified Conflict by the First District Court of Appeal

BRUCE S. ROGOW
BEVERLY A. POHL
BRUCE S. ROGOW, P.A.
2441 S.W. 28th Avenue
Fort Lauderdale, FL 333 12
(954) 767-8909

Appointed by the Court as Counsel for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case presents the question of whether **a** petition for writ of error corarn nobis is subject to the two-year time limitation of Rule 3.850, Fla.R.Crim.P. **A** threshold issue is whether coram nobis or Rule 3.850 is the proper post-conviction remedy in the circumstances of this case.

Petitioner Robert Earl Wood, an inmate at a federal prison, seeks review of a decision of the First District Court of Appeal affirming the summary denial of his *pro* se petition for writ of error coram nobis on the ground that it was time barred, Appendix 1-4. In 1996, Wood sought to set aside his 1988 negotiated *nolo contendere* plea to a charge of possession of cocaine, primarily because he had been misinformed about the possible collateral consequences of a withhold of adjudication. RI-54-63. Wood alleged that he was unlawfully induced or coerced to enter into the plea agreement, and that his counsel willfully failed to explain the penalties that might flow from a withhold of adjudication. RI-56-59. Specifically, Wood alleged that he was not informed that a *nolo contendere* plea and withhold of adjudication is considered a "conviction" under federal law, requiring a sentence enhancement for a subsequent federal drug conviction. Wood wrote in his petition:

[M]y attorney brought to me the State's offer in the form of a Plea Agreement. He explained that if I accepted the offer and entered a Plea of Nolo Contendere, that I would not have to go to prison, that Adjudication would be withheld, and this charge could and would never be used against me after I satisfied all of the stipulations contained

within the Judgment. [grammar and punctuation edited].

R1-62 (emphasis supplied). The plea agreement is found in the record at R1-16-18. The Order Withholding Adjudication of Guilt and Placing Defendant on Probation provided, *inter alia*, that "the ends of justice and the welfare of society do not require that you should presently be adjudged guilty and suffer the penalty authorized by law. ...[I]t is ordered and adjudged that the adjudication of guilt and imposition of sentence are hereby withheld, and that you are hereby placed on probation" R1-22.

Four years later Petitioner was convicted of a federal drug charge. He received **an** enhanced sentence because his **1988** plea to possession of cocaine and withhold of adjudication was treated by the federal court as a "prior conviction." **R1-77** \P 4.

If any person commits such a [drug] violation after a <u>prior conviction</u> for a felony drug offense has become final, such person shall be sentenced to a term of imprisonment which may not be less than 10 years and not more than life imprisonment. . . . No person sentenced under this subparagraph shall be eligible for parole during the term of imprisonment imposed therein.

(Emphasis supplied). Although the term "prior conviction" is not defined in § **841**, federal courts have held that federal law, not state law, is to be applied, and that a plea of *nolo contendere* and **a** withhold of adjudication is a "conviction" that supports an

Clerk's records in the United States District Court, Northern District of Florida, Pensacola Division, Case No. MCR 92-05009-016, indicate that on September 21, **1992**, Petitioner was sentenced to 240 months for conspiracy to import marijuana and for conspiracy with intent to distribute marijuana, and **120** months for possession with intent to distribute marijuana, all to be served concurrently. Title 21 U.S.C. § **841(b)(1)(B)** authorized the enhancement, and provides in relevant part:

Wood alleged that "[h]ad the Defendant, been made aware of this, He [sic] would more than likely have taken this cause to trial." **RI-57.**

The petition was summarily denied by the circuit court as "time barred" (R1-78), and rehearing was denied. R1-85 ("summary denial is proper because nothing is alleged that would warrant the relief requested").² The First District Court of Appeal affirmed and certified conflict with the Third District Court of Appeal on the issue of whether a petition for writ of error coram nobis is subject to the Rule 3.850 two-year time limitation for filing.

* * *

When Wood filed his 1996 petition, he had completed the probation imposed by the state court in 1988 (**RI-22**, 53), and thus he styled it as one seeking a writ of error coram nobis, rather than a Rule 3.850 motion which requires the petitioner **be** "in custody under sentence of a court established by the laws of Florida." **RI-84.** However, the trial court judge found that Wood was "presently considered to be in custody" by virtue of the

enhanced sentence under section 841(b)(1)(B). <u>United States v. Meiias</u>, 47 F.3d 401 (11th Cir. 1995); <u>United States v. Fernandez</u>, 58 F.3d 593,600 n. 21 (11th Cir. 1995) (same) ("every circuit that has considered this issue has reached the same conclusion. [FN21]"); <u>see also United States v. Cisneros</u>, 112 F.3d 1272 (5' Cir. 1997); <u>United States v. Cuevas</u>, 75 F.3d 778 (1st Cir. 1996). Thus, for federal sentencing purposes under § 841, it is irrelevant that Florida law does not consider a withhold of adjudication to be a "conviction." <u>Mejias</u>, *supra* citing <u>Garron v. State</u>, 528 So. 2d 353 [360] (Fla. 1988).

The petition also alleged that the sentencing court's failure to advise Wood of the minimum and maximum penalty rendered the negotiated plea involuntary, that a modification of the term of probation was unconstitutional, and that he **was** unconstitutionally denied **an** opportunity to object to the findings of the sentencing court or to offer evidence in mitigation. R1-59-61.

current enhancement of his federal sentence because of the prior state **plea** (citing Howarth v. State, 673 So. 2d 580 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996)). The court therefore construed the unsworn corarn nobis petition as a motion for post-conviction relief under Rule 3.850, Fla.R.Crim.P. RI-78. Without discussing or analyzing whether the substance of the petition might satisfy the exceptions to the general two-year time limitation of Rule 3.850 contained in subsections (b)(1) and (b)(2) of the rule, the court denied the petition as untimely. RI-78-82. Wood appealed.

The district court of appeal did not address the circuit court's <u>Howarth</u>-based "in custody" conclusion, nor the circuit court's decision to treat the petition as one seeking relief under Rule **3.850**. Instead, citing this Court's decision in <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 546 **So. 2d 1037**, **1039** (Fla. 1989), holding that Rule 3.850 has supplanted the writ of error coram nobis, and that "the only currently viable **use** for the writ of error coram nobis is where the defendant is no longer in custody, thereby precluding the use of rule 3.850 **as** a remedy," the district court apparently considered the petition as one for writ of error coram nobis, but nonetheless untimely:

The only apparent continuing application for the writ of error coram nobis is in the situation where the petitioner would have a viable claim under rule 3.850 but for the "in custody" requirement. A petition for a writ of error coram nobis therefore must satisfy the two-year limitation of rule 3.850.

* * * *

Because the appellant's petition in the present case was filed beyond the two-year time limitation, it was properly denied as untimely. See <u>Vonia v. State</u>, **680** So. 2d 438 (Fla. 2d **DCA** 1996).

Appendix, p. 2 (emphasis supplied).

The district court certified conflict with the Third District's decision in Malcolm v. State, 605 So. 2d 945 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), writing: "We recognize that the court in Malcolm expressly held that a petition for writ of error coram nobis is not subject to the two-year time limitation. We therefore certify conflict with Malcolm." Appendix, pp. 1, 3.

That decision was issued on July 11,1997. Petitioner filed a timely motion for rehearing and rehearing en banc on July 28,1997. See R. 9.420, Fla.R.App.P. Rehearing was denied August 22, 1997. Appendix, p. 4. On September 3, 1997, Petitioner timely invoked this Court's discretionary jurisdiction based on certified conflict. Article V, section 3(b)(4), Fla. Const. This Court deferred its decision on jurisdiction in an order dated September 17, 1997, and appointed undersigned counsel to represent the Petitioner.

The record in this Court was supplemented to include the motion for rehearing. **See** Order of October 24, 1997.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1 Summary Denial on Timing Grounds was Error

The district court erred by summarily dismissing Wood's petition for writ of error coram nobis as untimely. No state statute, rule of procedure, or decision of this Court precludes a defendant from using the ancient common law writ of coram nobis at **any** time.

Historically, the writ has been available without regard to timing, if a defendant seeks relief based upon facts unknown to the court, the defendant, or his counsel at the time of trial, if those facts were of such a nature that would have prevented the entry of the judgment which is challenged, **and** if he could not have learned of them through the exercise **of** due diligence. Hallman v. State, **37** 1 **So.** 2d 482 (Fla. **1979).** The court below erred by denying the writ without subjecting the petition to that test.

Although Rule 3.850 now provides the mechanism for post-conviction relief in the nature of coram nobis for defendants in custody, that rule specifically provides exceptions to its general two-year limitation on filing, and **the** first of those exceptions incorporates the above-stated standards for coram nobis relief. The rule's two-year time limit is *not* applicable if:

(1) the facts on which the claim is predicated were unknown to the movant or the movant's attorney and could not have been ascertained by the exercise of due diligence, ...

Rule 3.850(b), Fla.R.Crim.P. Thus, even if the time limit of Rule 3.850 were deemed applicable to petitions for writ of error coram nobis, the court below erred by failing to

consider **an** applicable exception: whether the petition alleged facts unknown at **the** time of trial, which could not have been ascertained by the exercise of due diligence, and which, if known, would have prevented the entry of judgment. Since coram nobis relief is *only* available in circumstances which would satisfy the Rule 3.850(b)(1) *exception* to the two-year time limitation for filing, **the** First District's two-year limit on petitions for coram nobis relief is illogical and arbitrary.

Absent circumstances amounting to laches and prejudice to the State, a petitioner's interest in having a means to **vacate** a truly invalid conviction at any time is consistent with the interests **of** justice, and outweighs any possible interest in finality of judgments which might be asserted by the State.

The decision below should be reversed and remanded for further consideration under the proper coram nobis standard.

2. The Circuit Court's "In Custody" Determination was Error

Contrary to a finding of the circuit court below, Petitioner should not be deemed to be "in custody" **from** his completed **1988** state "conviction" (and therefore subject to Rule **3.850's** exclusiveremedy) simply because his current federal sentence is enhanced as a result of the state plea and withhold of adjudication. Since Rule 3.850 is patterned after federal habeas statutory remedies, Florida law should not depart from federal law on the issue **of** the meaning of "custody" for state law post-conviction remedies, and this Court should specifically adopt the holding of the Supreme Court of the United States in Maleng v. Cook,

490 **U.S.** 488,109 S.Ct. 1923,104L.Ed.2d 540 (1989), that **one** cannot be "in custody" from a sentence which has fully expired. Although the weight **of** authority in this state is contrary to Maleng **v. Cook**, Florida's district courts **are** divided, and this Court should squarely hold that the present enhancement of a subsequent federal sentence by virtue of a prior conviction with a completed sentence does not satisfy the "in custody" requirement of Rule 3.850, with respect to a collateral attack on the earlier conviction. Logically and factually the present "custody" is a result of **the** subsequent sentence, not the sentence which has expired. Cases which have held to the contrary should be overruled. Since Wood was not in custody, coram nobis was the proper remedy.

3. No Fixed Time Limit Should Apply to Petitioner's Request for Coram Nobis Relief

Since, at the time Wood's petition for coram nobis relief was filed, no time limit for such filings was to be found in Florida law, if this Court should hold that any time limit is appropriate, that new rule should not be applied in this case. To do so would **be** unduly harsh, particularly given the fact that Petitioner has been incarcerated in a federal facility with limited Florida legal library resources, which has limited his access to court **as** guaranteed by the Florida Constitution. Under the circumstances of this case, any newly imposed time limit should either not apply, or should be deemed to have been tolled during Petitioner's federal incarceration.

The court below should be instructed to review the petition on its merits.

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURTERRED BY IMPOSING A TWO-YEAR LIMITATION ON A PETITION FOR CORAM NOBIS RELIEF, WITHOUT ANALYZING WHETHER THE ALLEGATIONS SATISFIED THE STANDARDS FOR CORAM NOBIS RELIEF

A. CORAM NOBIS AFTER RICHARDSON V. STATE

We begin, as did the court below, with <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 546 So. 2d 1037 (Fla. 1989), in which this Court discussed the relationship between Rule 3.850, Fla.R.Crim.P., and the ancient common law writ of error coram nobis, which is used to correct errors of fact, not law. See Hallman v. State, 371 So. 2d 482 (Fla. 1979), abrogated on other grounds, Jones v. State, 591 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1991). Twenty years after his conviction for first-degree murder, while in custody serving a life sentence for that crime, Richardson sought to vacate the judgment via a writ of error coram nobis, on the grounds of newly discovered evidence of knowingly perjured prosecution testimony, the suppression of evidence by the prosecution, and recantation by a prosecution witness. 546 So. 2d at 1037. This Court denied his application to seek coram nobis relief, because "Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 has supplanted the writ of error coram nobis, and . . . all of Richardson's claims based on newly discovered evidence should be brought under rule 3.850." <u>Id</u>. (emphasis in original). Richardson was advised to "file a motion pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure **3.850** in the trial court for all claims which are properly cognizable under that rule." 546 So. 2d at 1039.

In a footnote, this Court observed that its decision did not necessarily lead Richardson to a procedural bar on untimeliness grounds, as he had alleged "the discovery of facts unknown to the court, the defendant, or counsel at trial" (id. at 1037):

[FN 1] We note that Richardson is not procedurally barred from filing a motion pursuant to rule 3.850 for claims which satisfy the exception from the time limitation for claims based on alleged facts which "were unknown to the movant or his attorney and could not have been ascertained by the exercise of due diligence." Fla.R.Crim.P. **3.850.**

546 So. 2d at 039 n. 1.

After discussing that Rule 3.850 has "absorbed" many common law post-conviction remedies, including claims of newly discovered evidence in the nature of coram nobis, this Court recognized a continuing use for the common law writ of coram nobis:

We believe the only currently viable use for the writ of error coram nobis is where the defendant is no longer in custody, thereby precluding the use of rule 3.850 as a remedy. . . . [W]e hold that all newly discovered evidence claims must be brought in a motion pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850, and will not be cognizable in an application for a writ of error coram nobis unless the defendant is not in custody.

546 *So.* 2d at **1039** (emphasis supplied). <u>Richardson</u> confirmed that coram nobis is are medy still available in Florida in criminal cases, but did not present or decide the question of whether the two-year time limitation of Rule 3.850 applies to a coram nobis petition filed by

a defendant no longer in custody.

B. THE THRESHOLD "IN CUSTODY" ISSUE

Under <u>Richardson</u>, Wood's entitlement to seek coram nobis relief requires an initial determination of whether he is "in custody under sentence of a court established by the laws of Florida." R. 3.850(a). If so, coram nobis is not available, and the petition must satisfy the procedural and substantive requirements of Rule 3.850. If Wood is not "in custody" under Rule 3.850, coram nobis is an available remedy and the question giving rise to certified conflict must then **be** resolved: does a coram nobis petition have to be **filed** within the two-year time limitation of Rule 3.850?

The First District Court of Appeal ignored the predicate "custody" issue. However, the circuit court concluded, based on <u>Howarth v. State</u>, **673** *So.* 2d 580 (Fla. 5th **DCA** 1996), that "the Defendant is presently considered to be in custody." (RI-78-82). <u>Howarth</u> states:

[I]f a defendant's prior conviction is used to enhance a current sentence, the defendant is considered to be in custody for purposes of post-conviction relief.

Bannister v. State, 606 So. 2d 1247 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). See also Duenas v. State, 636 So. 2d 549 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994); McArthur v. State, 597 So. 2d 406 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). Since Mr. Howarth is challenging the validity of his 1987 convictions in an effort to avoid enhancement of his current sentence, he is in custody for purposes of post-conviction review.

Thus, his petition was properly considered under rule 3.850.

673 So. 2d at 581. Although that conclusion has support in Florida law, the cases are not uniform, and this Court has never decided whether the current enhancement of a federal sentence by a fully served state conviction (or withhold of adjudication disposition) constitutes "custody" for purposes of Rule 3.850. That question should be resolved in this case. It is best resolved by analogy to federal law regarding "custody."

Federal law does not stretch the definition of "custody" for habeas corpus purposes. See Maleng v. Cook, 490 U.S.488, 109 S.Ct. 1923, 104 L.Ed.2d 540 (1989):

In this case, the Court of Appeals held that a habeas petitioner may be "in custody" under a conviction whose sentence has fully expired at the time his petition is filed, simply because that conviction has been used to enhance the length of a current or future sentence imposed for a subsequent conviction. We think that this interpretation stretches the language "in custody" too far.

Id. at 491, 109 S.Ct. at 1925. This Court should follow the Supreme Court of the United States' analysis, and reject the <u>Howarth</u> reasoning.

Two early decisions concluded that federal incarceration enhanced by a previously served Florida conviction does *not* satisfy Rule 3.850's custody requirement, although the First District Court of Appeal decisions were not uniform. Parks v. State, 301
So. 2d 482 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974); Chapman v. State, 300 So. 2d 749 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974);

contra, Wilcox v. State, 267 So. 2d 15 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972). Parks and Chapman were later criticized in Bryan v. State, 345 So. 2d 1095 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977), which found, as did Wilcox, supra, that a federal prisoner who alleged his federal sentence was enhanced by a fully served prior Florida conviction was "in custody" and entitled to seek post-conviction remedies in Florida. Accord, Rose v. State, 235 So. 2d 353, 354 (Fla. 3d DCA 1970) ("a prisoner is 'in custody' for the purpose of applying for post-conviction relief **from** a judgment, the sentence for which has been satisfied, if the motion shows some relationship between the current confinement and the judgment to which the motion for relief is addressed such as would result in the prisoner's receiving credit in some degree on the current confinement"). The **Bryan** court reasoned that <u>Parks</u> and <u>Chapman</u> were in conflict with this Court's earlier decision in State v. Revnolds, 238 So. 2d 598 (Fla. 1970), which had found that a petitioner who was in the custody of a *state* other than Florida is also "in custody" for purposes of Florida post-conviction remedies. Cf. Shelly. State, 501 So. 2d 1332,1333 (Fla. 2d **DCA 1987**) (enhancement of subsequent Florida sentence constituted "custody" for Rule 3.850 even though sentence for challenged earlier probation violation had been served); Simmons v. State, 485 So. 2d 475 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986) (same); compare, Wall v. State, 525 So. 2d **486** (Fla. 1st **DCA 1988**) (no allegation that New Mexico sentence was enhanced by fully served Florida sentence, therefore no Rule 3.850 "custody").

Reynolds was motivated by compelling facts: the desire to provide a state remedy for a defendant convicted in violation of <u>Gideon v. Wainwright</u>, **372 U.S.** 335, 83

S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963). &Reynolds. 224 So. 2d 769. In addition, Florida had an outstanding detainer filed against Reynolds in the Texas courts, and arguably asserted present custody over him even while in another state. Id. at 770. Thus, in Reynolds this Court did not squarely address the "custody" question presented in this case - whether the present enhancement of a federal inmate's sentence because of a prior Florida conviction on which the sentence has expired constitutes "custody" for Rule 3.850 purposes. This is a question on which the district courts are divided, on which this Court has never spoken, and on which the Supreme Court of the United States' contemporary post-Reynolds guidance counsels against an "in custody" finding. Since federal habeas was acknowledged as the pattern for Rule 3.850 in Richardson v. State, 546 So. 2d at 1038, the Maleng v. Cook custody analysis should be incorporated into Florida law, and the Howarth / Bryan / Wilcox analysis should be rejected.

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