47

FILED

SID J. WINTE

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 1 1997

ROBERT EARL WOOD,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 91,333

## RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

TRISHA E. MEGGS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 045489

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 EXT 4617

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner, Robert Earl Wood, the Appellant in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or by proper name.

The symbol "R" will refer to the record on appeal. "IB" will designate the Initial Brief of Petitioner. Each symbol will be followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State agrees with Petitioner's statement of the case and facts.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

For the most part, Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 has supplanted the writ of error coram nobis, and therefore the only viable use for the writ of coram nobis is claims made when the defendant is no longer in custody. Thus, to prevent defendant from using the writ to circumvent Rule 3.850 and breathe life into time barred postconviction claims, the two-year time limitation as set forth in Rule 3.850 should apply to petition of writ of error coram nobis. Alternatively, should this Court determine that petitioner is not in custody and then hold that Rule 3.850 entirely supplants the writ of error coram nobis, the petition should be denied on the ground that no exceptions have been shown to the timeliness requirement of Rule 3.850.

## ARGUMENT

## ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TWO-YEAR TIME LIMITATION SET FORTH IN FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.850 SHOULD APPLY TO **PETITIONS** FOR **WRIT OF** ERROR CORAM **NOBIS?** (Restated)

In 1988, petitioner pled nolo contendere to reckless driving and possession of cocaine. (R.16-18).The trial court withheld adjudication and placed petitioner on probation. (R-22). Later, petitioner was incarcerated on federal charges, and his federal sentence was enhanced based on the 1988 Florida possession of drug In 1996, petitioner filed a petition for writ of (R.63).charge. error coram nobis claiming that his 1988 plea was involuntary because the plea was unlawfully induced in that his attorney failed to explain to him that the possession of drugs conviction could be used to enhance a subsequent sentence even when the court withheld adjudication. (R.57). The circuit court treated petitioner's petition as a motion for postconviction relief, and denied the petition. (R.78).

The First District Court of Appeal affirmed the circuit court's order, holding that a petition for writ of error coram nobis must satisfy the two-year time limitation of Rule 3.850. The First District stated that:

In light of the supreme court's decision in <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 546 So.2d 1037 (Fla.1989), virtually all claims formally cognizable by petition for writ of error coram nobis may now be presented only under rule 3.850 which contains a requirement that the motion be filed within two years after the judgment and sentence become final. The only apparent continuing application for the writ of

error coram nobis is in the situation where the petitioner would have a viable claim under rule 3.850 but for the "in custody" requirement. A petition for a writ of error coram nobis therefore must satisfy the two-year limitation of rule 3.850. If the two-year limitation were not applied to petitions for writs of error coram nobis, they could be used to circumvent the rule. By analogy, the case law precludes resort to a petition for writ of habeas corpus to pursue the time-barred claims of persons who are in custody. See, e.g., Patterson V. State, 664 So.2d 31 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995); Robbins v. State, 564 So.2d 256 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990).

Wood v. State, 698 So. 2d 293, 294 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997). The First District certified conflict with the Third District's decision in Malcolm v. State, 605 So. 2d 945 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), which held that a petition for error coram nobis is not subject to the two-year time limitation. Wood at 294.

The common law writ of error coram nobis "is a discretionary writ and will not be employed if any other remedy exists." Ex parte Welles, 53 So.2d 70.8, 711 (Fla. 1951). Therefore, the petition can only be used "when it is necessary for the accused to bring some new fact before the court which cannot be presented in any of the methods provided by statute, but it will not lie in cases covered by statutory provisions." Nickels v. State, 98 So. <u>Kinsey v. State</u>, 19 So. 2d 706, 708 (Fla. 502 (Fla. 1923). 1944) ("It is not the purpose of the writ of coram nobis to supplement or supersede appeal."). "Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 has supplanted the writ of error corarn nobis[.]" Richardson v. State, 546 So.2d 1037 (Fla. 1989). "[T]he only currently viable use for the writ of error coram nobis is where the defendant is no longer in custody, thereby precluding the use of rule 3.850 as a remedy." Id. at 1039.

Moreover, "(t)he function of a writ of error coram nobis is to correct errors of fact, not errors of law." Hallman v. State, 371 So.2d 482, 485 (Fla. 1979). See Ex parte Welles, at 710("In our view the facts in this case bring it within the scope of the common law writ of error coram nobis, the primary purpose of which was to afford the trial court an opportunity to correct its own record with reference to vital facts not known to the court when the judgment was entered."). "The facts upon which the petition is based must have been unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial, and it must appear that defendant or his counsel could not have known them by the use of diligence." Hallman at 485.

Contrary to the Third District's decision in Malcolm v. State, 605 So. 2d 945 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), there are limitation on when a petition of writ of error coram nobis may be filed. See Ashley v. State, 433 So.2d 1263, 1271 n.2 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) ("Failure to file a timely application for coram nobis is a sufficient ground to deny such relief in the absence of a good cause."); Cavson v. State, 139 So.2d 719, 723-724 (Fla. 1st DCA 1962) ("It is the general rule that an applicant seeking the extraordinary writ of error coram nobis must diligently present the same."). In fact, this Court in Ex parte Welles, held that:

In the <u>Lamb</u><sup>1</sup> case we held that application for it must be made within the time provided by Statute for taking writ of error but when there is no such limitation on writs of error, there is none as to writs of error coram nobis.

<sup>1</sup> Lamb v. State, 91 Fla. 396, 107 So. 535 (Fla. 1926).

When the <u>Lamb</u> case was decided appeals in criminal cases were by writ of error, but since that decision writs of error have been abolished and review of criminal cases is now accomplished by appeal. Such appeals must be taken by the defendant within 90 days after the judgment is entered. If application for the writ is made in the trial court, in should be made within the time allowed for taking an appeal unless good cause is shown for a longer delay. If appeal has been taken to this Court the application may be made here for permission to apply to the trial court at any time before the case is decided, but in any event application must be made to this Court within 90 days from the date its judgment of affirmance is entered, unless good cause is shown for not applying within that time.

## <u>Id.</u> at 711.

Because Rule 3.850 has supplanted the writ of error coram nobis, this Court should require that the petition for writ of coram nobis satisfy the two-year time limitation of Rule 3.850. "If the two-year limitation were not applied to petitions for writs of error coram nobis, they could be used to circumvent the rule." Wood at 294. A writ of coram nobis should not "be used by a person no longer in custody to breathe life into a postconviction claim previously time barred[.]" Vonia v. State, 680 So.2d 438, 439 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996). Therefore, the two-year time limitation as set forth in Rule 3.850 should apply to petitions for writ of error coram nobis.

Similarly, defendants, who are in custody, are not permitted to use petitions for writ of habeas corpus to avoid the two-year time limitation of rule 3.850. <u>Isley v. State</u>, 652 So.2d 409, 410 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995)("He will not be permitted to escape the two-year limit by labeling this or any other pleading as a petition for habeas corpus."); <u>Patterson v. State</u>, 664 So.2d 31 (Fla. 4th DCA

1995) (Court affirmed the denial of Patterson's petition for writ of habeas corpus seeking post-conviction relief filed outside the two year time limit of rule 3.850.); Robbins v. State, 564 So.2d 256, 257 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (Court affirmed the denial of Robbins petition for writ of habeas corpus holding that Robbins was "procedurally barred from seeking further relief by failing to meet the time constraints enumerated in Rule 3.850, Fla.R.Crim.P."). Thus, as the two-year time limitation of Rule 3.850 applies to petitions for writ of habeas corpus, it should also apply to petitions of writ of error coram nobis.

It should also be noted that the Criminal Appeals Reform Act of 1996, codified in Chapter 924, Florida Statutes (Supp.1996), provides in relevant part:

- (6) A petition or motion for collateral or other postconviction relief may not be considered if it is filed more than 2 years after the judgment and sentence became final in a noncapital case or more than 1 year after the judgment and sentence became final in a capital case in which a death sentence was imposed unless it alleges that:
- (a) The facts upon which the claim is predicated were unknown to the petitioner or his attorney and could not have been ascertained by the exercise of due diligence;
- (b) The fundamental constitutional right asserted was not established within the period provided for in this subsection and has been held to apply retroactively; or
- (c) The sentence imposed was illegal because it either exceeded the maximum or fell below the minimum authorized by statute for the criminal offense at issue. Either the state or the defendant may petition the trial court to vacate an illegal sentence at any time.

S 924.051(6), Fla. Stat. (Supp.1996). This Court has since implemented section 924.051(6) by amending or creating Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.140(j) (3) to require that petitions for belated appeal or writ of habeas corpus alleging ineffective assistance of appellate counsel be filed within a two year period. See also McCrav v. State, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S627 (Fla. October 9, 1997) (This Court set forth a presumption of unreasonable delay and prejudice to the state when a petition for writ of habeas corpus claiming ineffective assistance of appellate counsel is filed more than five years after the petitioner's convictions became final.).

Petitioner's raises the issue of whether the circuit court's determination that he was "in custody" for purposes of Rule 3.850 was proper. Although this is beyond the scope of the certified question, the State, out of an abundance of caution, will respond. Trushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126, 1130 (Fla. 1982) ("While we have the authority to entertain issues ancillary to those in a certified case, . . . we recognize the function of district courts as courts of final jurisdiction and will refrain from using that authority unless those issues affect the outcome of the petition after review of the certified case.").

In <u>Howarth v. State</u>, 673 **So.2d** 580 (Fla. 5th DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 680 **So.2d** 422 (Fla.1996), the Fifth District stated that "Rule 3.850 has, to a large extent, supplanted the writ of error coram nobis remedy. Error coram nobis is now available only to defendants challenging the validity of sentences for which they are no longer in custody.'' However, "if a defendant's prior conviction

is used to enhance a current sentence, the defendant is considered to be in custody for purposes of post-conviction relief." Id. See Duenas v. State, 636 So.2d 549, 550 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994)("[T]he convictions which appellant attacks were used to enhance the sentence he is currently serving. Thus, appellant is in custody for purposes of rule 3.850."); McArthur v. State, 597 So.2d 406, 407 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992)("For purposes of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850, a prisoner seeking post-conviction relief need not be in custody under the sentence attacked, provided he contends 'the sentence he is serving was enhanced by the conviction he seeks to have set aside.'"). Thus, under Florida law, petitioner was in custody for purposes of filing a Rule 3.850 motion.

Nevertheless, regardless of whether petitioner was in custody or not, petitioner was not entitled to relief. Petitioner claimed that his 1988 plea was involuntary and his counsel was ineffective because he was unaware that the judgment for the possession of cocaine charge could be used against him to enhance a subsequent federal sentence. (R.57). However, "'a plea's possible enhancing effect on a subsequent sentence is merely a collateral consequence of the conviction; it is not the type of consequence about which a defendant must be advised before the defendant enters the plea."'

State v. Fox, 659 So.2d 1324, 1327 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), rev. denied, 668 So.2d 602 (Fla.1996)(citations omitted). The Fox court held that "the sentencing court is not required to anticipate a defendant's recidivism." Id. "Therefore, the fact that the felony adjudication might be used against the defendant in a subsequent

federal prosecution was a collateral consequence of the plea and was not an issue the trial judge was required to cover in the plea colloquy." <a href="Id">Id</a>. <a href="See also">See also</a> Rh</a>, <a href="22">22</a> Fla. L. Weekly D2528(Fla. 3d DCA November 5, 1997)("We should not encourage recidivism, even implicitly, by adopting a rule of law which requires a defense attorney or trial court to 'warn' a defendant of the sentence-enhancing consequences his plea will have as to any future crimes he may commit.); <a href="State v. Garcia">State v. Garcia</a>, 571 So.2d 38, 39 (Fla 3d DCA 1990); <a href="Simmons v. State">Simmons v. State</a>, 611 So.2d 1250, 1252 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992)("Neither the trial court nor counsel is required to forewarn a defendant about every conceivable collateral consequence of a plea to criminal charges.").

Because neither the trial court nor defense counsel were required to anticipate petitioner's recidivism and forewarn him that his plea to the charge of possession of cocaine could be used to enhance a subsequent federal sentence, petitioner's plea was not involuntary and his counsel was not ineffective. Therefore, petitioner would not have been entitled to relief if had filed a timely direct appeal, motion for postconviction relief pursuant Rule 3.850, or petition for writ of error coram nobis. Accordingly, the circuit court correctly denied petitioner's petition, and this Court should affirm the decision of the First District.

## CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully submits the decision of the District Court of Appeal reported at 698 So. 2d 293 should be approved, and the order denying petitioner's petition entered in the trial court should be affirmed.